Draft Pending Adoption
Attachment Two

Regulatory Framework (B) Task Force
8/12/25

Draft: 8/18/25

Prescription Drug Coverage (B) Working Group
Minneapolis, Minnesota
August 11, 2025

The Prescription Drug Coverage (B) Working Group of the Regulatory Framework (B) Task Force met in
Minneapolis, MN, Aug. 11, 2025. The following Working Group members participated: Joylynn Fix, Chair (WV);
Ashley Scott, Vice Chair (OK); Sarah S. Bailey and Molly Nollette (AK); John Buono and Reyn Norman (AL); Crystal
Phelps (AR); Erica Bowsher (AZ); Lena Bahar and Michael Shanahan (CT); Howard Liebers (DC); Sheryl Parker (FL);
Andria Seip (IA); Shannon Hohl (ID); Matthew Pickett (IL); Julie Holmes (KS); Shaun Orme (KY); Frank Opelka (LA);
Brianna Egan (Ml); Norman Barrett (MN); Amy Hoyt (MO); Robert Croom (NC); Cheryl Wolff, Martin Swanson, and
Margaret Otto (NE); Erin Porter and Ralph Boeckman (NJ); Viara lanakieva (NM); Krista Porter (NY); Lindsi Swartz
and Shannen Logue (PA); Glory Montalvo (PR); Jud Jones (TN); Shelley Wiseman and Ryan Jubber (UT); Jane Beyer
(WA); Lori Luder and Darcy Paskey (WI); and Lauren White (WY). Also participating were: Tony Bonofiglio (OH);
Mike Rhoads (OK); Chrystal Bartuska (ND); and Patrick Smock (RI).

1. Adopted its May 19 and Spring National Meeting Minutes

The Working Group met May 19 and heard presentations from AHIP, the HIV+Hepatitis Policy Institute, and The
AIDS Institute on copay accumulators.

Swanson made a motion, seconded by Scott, to adopt the Working Group’s May 19 (Attachment Two-A) and
March 24 (see NAIC Proceedings — Spring 2025, Regulatory Framework (B) Task Force, Attachment Three) minutes.

The motion passed unanimously.

3. Heard Presentations from PhRMA and the CFF on AFPs

Katelin Lucariello (Pharmaceutical Research and Manufacturers of America—PhRMA) said that before she
discussed alternative funding programs (AFPs), she wanted to frame the issues that are the source of some of the
concerns with AFPs. She said AFPs target specialty drugs, which are types of drugs that typically treat clinically
complex conditions and diseases, such as HIV, hepatitis C, multiple sclerosis, rare and genetic conditions, and
some cancers. She said these drugs provide significant value, not only from a patient benefit perspective, but from
a value to the system perspective, because they often help patients return to daily activities and the workforce.

Lucariello said science has never been more promising in developing drugs to treat these conditions and diseases.
She said, however, that insurer tactics challenge patient access to these drugs. She said drug manufacturer cost-
sharing assistance is an important source of financial help for commercially insured patients in obtaining access
to these drugs because, without such assistance, patients are more likely to abandon new prescriptions.

Lucariello said AFPs steer commercially insured patients to charitable or manufacturer patient assistance funds
meant for uninsured and financially disadvantaged patients. She discussed the differences between AFPs and
other patient assistance programs (PAPs) (e.g., accumulator adjustment programs and copay maximizer
programs). She said AFPs differ because they: 1) are operated by third-party vendors; 2) target specialty
medicines; 3) encourage health plans to remove coverage for specialty drugs on the premise that manufacturer
PAPs will pay for them; and 4) require patients to enroll in the vendor program or pay 100% of the cost of their
medicines if they do not enroll. Lucariello described how AFPs target PAPs, including how, as the first step, AFP

© 2025 National Association of Insurance Commissioners 1



Draft Pending Adoption
Attachment Two

Regulatory Framework (B) Task Force
8/12/25

third-party vendors convince employers either directly or through benefits consultants to remove specialty drug
coverage, leading to prescription denials for their employees who need a specialty drug. She said that after these
denials, the AFP third-party vendor contacts the patient to entice the patient to enroll in the AFP to obtain
coverage for the specialty drug, because if they do not, the patient’s only option is to pay 100% of the cost of the
medicine or not receive the medicine. Lucariello explained that the patient’s enrollment through the AFP disguises
the insured patient as “uninsured” so the patient can apply for patient assistance to cover the cost of prescriptions.

Lucariello discussed the hidden impacts of AFPs, including: 1) the use of deceptive practices to exploit assistance;
2) the depletion of patient assistance meant for uninsured patients; 3) potentially overpromising savings to
employers; and 4) potentially causing delays and disruptions in treatment for patients. She said AFPs are costly,
deceptive, potentially discriminatory, and dangerous for patients. Lucariello discussed how the states are
beginning to address AFPs. She said Indiana and Maryland recently banned them, and Louisiana recently passed
legislation to study them.

Lucariello discussed PARMA'’s medicine assistance tool (MAT). She said PhRMA created the MAT to help patients
navigate medicine affordability. The MAT makes it easier for those struggling to afford their medicines to find and
learn more about various programs that can make prescription medicines more affordable. She described how
the MAT works.

Seip asked about the pricing for the medicines patients obtain through an AFP. Lucariello said AFPs operate
outside of the health plan. As such, to help patients pay for the drugs, an AFP accesses manufacturer or charitable
dollars. Seip said she is more interested in learning the manufacturer’s cost of the drug and whether the
manufacturer’s cost of the drug is different for certain groups or people because of the differences in the level of
drug discounts offered by the drug manufacturer. Lucariello acknowledged the complexity of the drug pricing
system in the U.S. She explained that in negotiations between pharmacy benefit managers (PBMs) and drug
manufacturers, the PBMs negotiate discounts and rebates with the manufacturer, which impacts the net price the
PBM pays for the drug. Lucariello said AFPs are not technically paying a particular price metric for the drug.
Charitable foundations and manufacturer PAPs are not offering a discount off the price of a medicine; they are
offering a dollar amount toward paying for the medicine. She said that, as such, drug manufacturers are not
offering a different price for the medicine; rather, they are offering a dollar value toward the medicine. For
commercial insurance, this equates to a dollar amount off the deductible, copay, or coinsurance for the drug.

Hohl asked Lucariello to elaborate on her remarks about AFPs helping people switch to different prescriptions.
Lucariello said her statement is based, in part, on anecdotal evidence. She said there are a few lawsuits against
AFPs on this issue. She said PhRMA has heard that in some cases, AFPs have reached out to physicians or
encouraged patients to reach out to their physicians to obtain an alternative prescription.

Fix asked Lucariello to clarify the impact of patients using an AFP versus a manufacturer PAP regarding the
patient’s ability to draw down their out-of-pocket (OOP) costs. Lucariello said that, unlike manufacturer PAPs,
patients using an AFP to obtain their medicine are not drawing down their OOP costs because they are outside of
insurance coverage. As such, the patient could ultimately pay more for the drug.

Bartuska asked Lucariello to elaborate on her discussion about AFPs being potentially discriminatory because she
would argue that there is discrimination in the entire medical market, not just the prescription drug market. As
such, she believes more should be done to lower costs for all consumers, not just those consumers with high
prescription drug costs. Lucariello said she can only speak from a drug manufacturer’s perspective, and the

© 2025 National Association of Insurance Commissioners 2



Draft Pending Adoption
Attachment Two
Regulatory Framework (B) Task Force
8/12/25

assistance drug manufacturers offer to reduce prescription costs for consumers. She acknowledged Bartuska’s
concern about health care costs across the entire medical system and the need to address those costs.

Rhoads asked what role consumers play in being enrolled in an AFP. Lucariello said that it is typically an employer
plan sponsor contracting with the AFP, particularly in the self-insured market, where plan sponsors have more
flexibility over the coverage they choose to offer to their employees. She said the employee technically has a
choice of whether to enroll in the AFP, but it is an impossible choice, as they must decide whether to enroll with
the AFP and have their medicine covered through these alternative routes or pay 100% of the cost for the
medicine.

Fix asked how AFPs are funded. Lucariello said that sometimes smaller PBMs are the AFP’s vendor, and they reach
out to employers. She said that the AFP typically earns a fee from the employers they contract with, and that fee
is based on the percentage of the assistance they can capture, which is typically 20% to 30%. Lucariello gave an
example that if the AFP captures $100 in drug assistance, then the AFP would charge the employer $30 because
it offset $100 in prescription drug costs for the employer.

Theresa Alban (Cystic Fibrosis Foundation—CFF) discussed AFPs, international drug importation, and patient
experience. She highlighted how patients, particularly those requiring specialty medications, like those with cystic
fibrosis, are particularly at risk of additional administrative burdens and other adverse impacts when an AFP is
involved. Alban described how patients navigate AFPs and how AFPs try to source medication internationally. She
said some AFPs have advertised to employers that drug importation is an effective way for their employees to
receive their drugs and that the federal government has endorsed drug importation. AFPs have also said drug
importation lowers drug costs for both the employer and the employee.

Alban said the CFF has concerns about the patient risks associated with drug importation, such as the potential
for the lack of proper storage and handling, and the lack of transparency in the drug supply chain to understand
who is supplying the medications. Alban also highlighted how patients navigating AFPs are subject to potential
gaps in care and a constantly changing process to obtain their drugs because AFPs are increasingly requiring
patients to obtain their medications internationally due to the increasing cost of specialty drugs.

Alban discussed potential issues with international drug importation. She described existing laws and regulations
related to drug importation, including the U.S. Food and Drug Administration’s (FDA’s) personal importation policy
and the Section 804 importation program under the federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, which allows states
and American Indian tribes to import prescription drugs from Canada under specific conditions, potentially
lowering drug costs for consumers. She said that despite these laws and regulations, patients are at risk of
unregulated importation. Alban said state insurance regulators and other state policymakers can help prevent this
by: 1) ensuring that scrutiny and oversight are incorporated into a Section 804 importation program proposal
application; and 2) working with the FDA to enforce existing laws against illegal importation.

Wolff asked for more clarification on who pays for the drug in the AFP scenario. Alban said the employer, who has
contracted with the AFP, or third-party administrator (TPA), pays a flat fee to the AFP as outlined in the contract.
Then, the AFP tries to source the medication as cheaply as possible, which may be through drug importation or a
drug manufacturer PAP.

Hohl said AFPs seem to target employer-based plans, particularly self-insured employer-based plans. She asked

whether anyone on the federal level tracks complaints or if the CFF is working with federal agencies, such as the
U.S. Department of Labor (DOL), the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (HHS), or other federal

© 2025 National Association of Insurance Commissioners 3



Draft Pending Adoption
Attachment Two

Regulatory Framework (B) Task Force
8/12/25

agencies to address some of the concerns and issues related to AFPs. Alban said the CFF has been working with
some of these federal agencies, particularly with the FDA, to address concerns with drug importation.

Wolff asked how the pharmacy is paid. Alban said she can only speak from an international sourcing perspective.
She said that from that perspective, the pharmacy has an exclusive contract with the AFP to source the
medications. Alban noted the lack of transparency in this area, which hampers everyone’s ability to truly
understand how it all works.

Having no further business, the Prescription Drug Coverage (B) Working Group adjourned.

SharePoint/NAIC Support Staff Hub/Member Meetings/B CMTE/RFTF/Prescription Drug Coverage Working Group/PDCWG MtgMin 8-11-
25.docx

© 2025 National Association of Insurance Commissioners 4



